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  Dear Shareholder,

It is with enormous pride that I present Ishine’s first Annual Report, outlining its activities in the first 
ten months since the inception of the Company.

The 2009/10 year was an exciting and inspiring period as we witnessed the growth and stabilisation of 
the Company. With the support of Shandong Ishine Mining Industry Co.Ltd. (SIMIC), a well established 
iron ore mining and production company in Shandong Province, China. Ishine International Resources 
Limited was founded in September 2009 and listed on the Australian Securities Exchange on the 18th 
December 2009.

In its 2009 prospectus, Ishine outlined the potential discovery of nickel sulphide mineralisation at its 
joint venture project, the Falcon Bridge project north of Laverton in Western Australia and copper-
gold mineralisation at its farm in projects in Mt Watson and Boomarra, both in north west Queensland. 
Exploration work has been progressing well in all three projects. Geophysical survey and drilling have 
been undertaken in a well scheduled manner with encouraging results achieved so far and further 
drilling is scheduled to take place soon.

The past ten months also saw the Company aggressively acquire quality exploration tenements in 
Western Australian and South Australian with a total of 15 exploration applications lodged before the 
end of June 2010, 12 in WA and 3 in SA, respectively, for a total land area of 5,500km2. The potential 
mineralisation has extended to Iron Ore, Gold, Copper, Nickel, Lead, Zinc, Uranium and Cobalt, etc. 
The establishment of this carefully chosen project pipeline has paved a way for the Company’s long 
term development growth.

In realising its goal of fast tracking potential iron projects and finding prominent base metal project 
in the Mid West region of WA, the Company signed a subscription agreement with Athena Resources 
Limited and became Athena’s substantial share holder with 12.7% Athena’s total share on issue. The 
Company has been working closely with Athena’s team in speeding up the exploration process of this 
project.

I thank the Board and the management team for making it such a successful year. I also thank the 
continued support from the shareholders.  

 

Mr Yunde Li
EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN

CHAIRMAN’S LETTER
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Ishine International Resources Limited (‘Ishine’) has made three major achievements over the reporting period, ie. the strategic investment 
into Athena Resources Limited, advance in Ishine’s three JV projects and securing 100% owned exploration tenements.  The Company has 
used its cash and assets that are readily converted to cash in a way consistent with its business objectives. Details on the achievement on the 
three aspects are described below.

STRATEGIC INVESTMENT INTO ATHENA RESOURCES LIMITED
The Company sees the strategic importance of Athena Resources Limited’s (‘Athena’) (ASX Code: AHN) Byro projects in Mid West WA in 
assisting the Company in realising its goal of fast tracking potential iron projects and finding base metal project in this region. Following the 
completion of due diligence, Ishine signed a subscription agreement with Athena in late February 2010 to take up to 19.9% equity in Athena. 
Summary of the agreement are as follows:

Tranche 1  

a) 8,300,000 ordinary fully paid shares at 12 cents per share for $996,000 to take 12.7% stake in Athena’s total shares.

b) 4,150,000 Options exercisable at 8 cents expiring on 30 April 2012 at 1 cent per option for $41,500 to take 12.7% stake in Athena’s 
total options. 

Ishine can increase its holding in Athena to 19.9% subject to Ishine exercising its option to participate in Tranche 2 at anytime 5.00pm (WST), 
31 October 2010:

Tranche 2  

a) 5,935,823 ordinary fully paid shares at 20 cents per share for $1,187,165 to make Ishine’s total stake in Athena’s  
shares 19.9%. 

b) 2,967,912 Options exercisable at 8 cents expiring on 30 April 2012 at 1 cent per option for $29,679 to make Ishine’s total stake in 
Athena’s options 19.9%.

In mid April 2010, Ishine exercised Tranche 1 and became Athena’s substantial share holder. Ishine has since been working closely with Athena 
in expediting its exploration activities in this project.

Ishine’s interest in Athena lies in the potential iron ore and base metal in Athena’s Byro projects in Mid-West WA. The iron ore potential was 
identified by a number of magnetic anomalies with a combined strike length of 35km which was believed to potentially represent magnetite 
bearing units capable of hosting iron ore deposits. This iron ore potential was further demonstrated by 45 encouraging rockchip assays over 
three magnetic targets at Byro where all samples exceeded 30% Fe, with a peak result of 58% Fe.

The base metal potential of Athena’s Byro projects was revealed by historic exploration data from open file reports relating to the Byro East 
ultramafic intrusion. Rock chip sampling was carried out along the prospective eastern contact with a number of anomalous copper results, 
the best of which was 25.5% Cu from a siliceous gossan. Further encouraging copper assays from rock chip samples along the eastern contact 
zone were subsequently collected with best results of 7.49% Cu and 3.28% Cu. Ten additional rock chip samples collected from outcrops along 
the eastern contact of the Byro East ultramafic intrusion have extended the area of known copper mineralisation for over 1.8 kilometres. 
Historic drilling date also showed that previous intercepts along the eastern contact include 67 metres at 0.63% copper from 0 metres. 

The Byro projects have been progressing well in the past few months with its first drilling campaign completed at the end of August 2010. Very 
encouraging drilling results were identified. Assay results are pending at the time of this report.

ADVANCE IN EXPLORATION

(a) Falcon Bridge Nickel Joint Venture Project, Western Australia (Ishine earning up to 70%)

The Falcon Bridge Nickel Project is a joint venture with Strategic Energy Resources Ltd (ASX Code: SER) with Ishine earning up to a 70% 
interest through exploration expenditure. The project is situated 90km north of Laverton within the Duketon Greenstone Belt which is part of 
the Norseman – Wiluna Greenstone Sequence in the Archaean Yilgarn Craton Western Australia. This highly prospective ground is host to a 
sequence of mafic and ultramafic lithologies adjacent to a granite dome.

The greenstone lithologies within this project are largely obscured by Quaternary colluvium and as a result very little historic exploration has 
been carried out. Aeromagnetic images over the project show prominent north-rending magnetic highs to the west of the granite dome.  These 
represent the presence of ultramafic lithologies, which thicken in the north-west corner of E38/1970. The magnetic anomaly in this location has 
been named the ‘Toro Grande’ anomaly by previous explorers.

Historically this magnetic feature has been tested by two rounds of drilling across a single east-west traverse along northing 6915500 (MGA94 
zone51). The first round was drilled during 2001 and included 17 RAB holes, although many of these failed to penetrate to significant depth.  A 
second round of 7 aircore drill holes was drilled during 2003. This program was more successful at penetrating the transported lacustrine clays 
and lateritic cap-rock and confirmed that the ultramafic rock was indeed present and significantly thick in this location.

Ishine’s Exploration at Falcon Bridge

During the reporting year Ishine has further advanced exploration at the Falcon Bridge Project. After thorough technical review in early 2010, 
the company has completed a Moving Loop TEM survey across the magnetic anomaly which generated significantly conductive results. This 
was followed up with a round or Aircore drilling testing the ultramafic unit and its contacts for favourable geochemistry and generated some 
significantly anomalous results warranting further drill testing.

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
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MLTEM

During March-April 2010 Ishine commissioned Southern Geoscience Consultants Pty Ltd and Outer Rim Exploration Services Pty Ltd to carry 
out a Moving Loop TEM survey over the Toro-Grand Magnetic Anomaly. The data from the 9.6 line km surveyed defined conductors in both 
shallow and deeper bedrock positions which appear to be concordantly west-dipping with the stratigraphy and in close proximity to the basal 
contact position of the ultramafic unit. There appears to be a shallower conductive unit in the south-east corner or the survey grid and a 
stronger unit in the central section situated at a deeper level and possibly related down-plunge of the shallower unit.

 

 
 
 

Figure 1: MLTEM results over magnetic anomaly with historic drill traverse.

Following the MLTEM survey in June 2010, Raglan Drilling Contractors of Kalgoorlie were employed to drill a total of 73 Aircore drill holes for 
3,459m across six east-west traverses. The drill traverses were designed to extend across the ultramafic unit and into the footwall/hangingwall 
lithologies bounding it to the east and west. Traverses were approximately 1km in length given the considerable thickness of the host unit.  
Along the drill traverses collars were typically spaced on 100m centers, however a number of infill holes were also drilled as part of the 
program to give more detailed definition of the contact zones, and to replicate the higher MgO areas evident by cumulate texturing.

Preliminary results have been received and are encouraging.  Some of the anomalous intersections include:

23m @ 0.41% Ni and 262ppm Cu from 51m in drill hole FBAC004

33m @ 0.58% Ni and 125ppm Cu from 30m in drill hole FBAC017

39m @ 0.41% Ni and 170ppm Cu from 36m in drill hole FBAC058

3m @ 0.55% Ni and 280ppm Cu from 36m in drill hole FBAC041

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
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This round of drilling has confirmed the ultramafic host rock is present and up to 800m true thickness at its broadest point, although this is 
probably due to structural thickening from folding.  Numerous holes recorded elevated nickel values, several of which were also associated 
with anomalous copper, increasing the likelihood of being a derivative of a sulphidic source as opposed to concentration from weathering and 
lateritisation.  Aircore drill hole intersections with greater than 0.4% Ni are tabulated below (Table 1). 

Hole ID Easting Northing RL Dip Azimuth Depth From To Interval Nickel 
%

Cu 
(ppm)

FBAC004 443000 6914300 500 -60 90 74 51 74 23 0.41% 262

FBAC005 442900 6914300 500 -60 90 44 27 39 12 0.44% 109

FBAC012 442500 6914600 500 -90 0 46 27 42 15 0.43% 39

FBAC016 442900 6914600 500 -60 90 53 33 53 20 0.57% 26

FBAC017 443000 6914600 500 -60 90 63 30 63 33 0.58% 125

FBAC023 442600 6914844 500 -90 0 63 54 57 3 0.41% 14

FBAC033 442600 6915200 500 -60 90 57 45 51 6 0.40% 23

FBAC041 443300 6915700 500 -60 90 64 36 39 3 0.55% 280

FBAC042 443200 6915700 500 -60 90 42 30 42 12 0.44% 58

FBAC048 442600 6915700 500 -90 0 38 33 36 6 0.51% 30

FBAC049 442500 6915700 500 -90 0 45 36 45 6 0.42% 34

FBAC053 443000 6915900 500 -60 90 38 33 38 5 0.53% 33

FBAC058 443050 6914600 500 -60 90 83 36 75 39 0.41% 170

FBAC064 442450 6915700 500 -60 90 59 51 57 6 0.63% 45

FBAC068 443250 6915700 500 -60 90 51 36 51 15 0.69% 56

FBAC072 442650 6915200 500 -60 90 37 33 37 4 0.51% 55

         Table 1: Significant Aircore intercepts >0.4% Ni. 

Figure 2:  Aircore drilling lines at Falcon Bridge JV project and magnetic anomaly

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
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(b) Boomarra Project , Queensland (Ishine earning up to 70%)

The Boomarra Project is a Joint Venture with Kabiri Resources Pty Ltd with Ishine earning up to 70% by funding up to $950,000 on exploration 
over 42 months.

The Boomarra Project is located within the Carpentaria Basin overlying Proterozoic rocks correlated with the Eastern Succession of the Mount 
Isa Inlier.  EPM15723 covers an area of 119.8km² and is located approximately 110km north of Cloncurry.  The lease covers approximately 35 
km of the NNE trending Melinda Downs Fault, along which occur five “bullseye” magnetic anomalies. The magnetic anomalies are interpreted 
to reflect the presence of extensive hydrothermal iron-oxide- and sulphide-bearing alteration zones within Proterozoic basement rocks adjacent 
to a fault zone developed along the western margin of the Naraku Batholith. The geological setting of the project suggests it is prospective for 
IOCG style mineral deposits.

In 1999 BHPM drilled a single vertical diamond core hole at the southern end of the Charlie magnetic anomaly as shown in the figure below. 
This drill hole, which was collared approximately 600m south of the gravity survey traverse at Charlie, was completed to a depth of 618m. 
Anomalous copper values of 625ppm Cu and 552ppm Cu were recorded from 598-603m and from 563-568m, respectively.

Ishine’s evaluation of the legacy data suggests that the BHPM drill hole was collared approximately 1km to the south of the peak of the Charlie 
magnetic anomaly, and may therefore have failed to intersect any mineralisation associated the source of the anomaly.

The magnetic anomalies are interpreted to reflect the presence of extensive hydrothermal iron-oxide- and sulphide-bearing alteration zones 
within Proterozoic basement rocks adjacent to a fault zone developed along the western margin of the Naraku Batholith. One of the magnetic 
anomalies is accompanied by a coincident residual gravity high.

During the year, Daishsat were commissioned to carry out a ground gravity survey across the Boomarra Project.  The survey was conducted 
on the basis of nominal 200m by 200m station spacing over the core magnetic targets (and adjoining areas to cover dipoles), with 200m by 
400m spacing elsewhere. A total 1,555 stations are conducted to give information on a major magnetic anomaly. The field work for the gravity 
survey was completed in May 2010 with data being finally processed and received recently. The Company is now in the process of reviewing 

the result and planning for a possible drilling program.

  

                        Figure 3: Boomarra magnetic image with geology                      Figure 4: Gravity survey stations over magnetic image

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
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Figure 5: Boomarra Ground Gravity Survey

(c) Mt Watson Project - Queensland (Ishine earning up to 70%)

The Mount Watson Project is a Joint Venture with Kabiri Resources with Ishine earning up to a 70% interest through exploration expenditure 
of up to $800,000 over 42 months.

The Mount Watson Joint Venture in Queensland occurs on the Western Succession of the Mt Isa Inlier and is considered prospective for 
copper, being adjacent to the nearby Mt Watson Copper Mine, recently operated by Matrix Metals Ltd. The Mount Watson tenements include 
EPM15933 and EPM15986 and are situated 115km NNW of Mt Isa.  When in operation the Mt Watson Mine produced 8.08 million tonnes 
at an average grade of 0.9%.  There are a number of other significant historic copper mines and prospects within the area of the of the Mt 
Watson tenements. These include the Hidden Treasure copper deposit with oxide mineral resources of 300,000 tonnes at an average grade of 
1.3% Cu; as well as several other exploration prospects at Mt Earl, Tewinga, Mt Wonder, Anomaly P ranging from early stage to advanced.

During the financial year Ishine commissioned Geotech Airborne Pty Ltd to carry out a 510 line kilometre VTEM survey at 150m line spacing.  
Southern Geoscience Consultants were contracted to process and model the data from this survey. 

Preliminary results have been received and the responses look highly encouraging. Within the Surprise Creek sediments and along strike from 
Mount Watson a significant conductor occurs across all channels. A number of other high to low order anomalies were also generated from 
the survey.  Ishine carried out a field reconnaissance survey submitting several rock chip samples for assay, the results of which are currently 
unavailable.

Ishine is presently going through environmental and heritage clearances which will precede a drilling program scheduled for later in the year.

 

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
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Figure 6: Mt. Watson VTEM anomalies over airphoto

 

Figure 7: Mt Watson local prospect

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
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NEW EXPLORATION LICENCE APPLIED
The Company continued its effort in securing 100% owned exploration tenements through aggressive search for quality ground in Australia. 
15 new exploration licence applications were lodged during the report period to the Western Australian Department of Mines and Petroleum 
and the South Australian Department of Primary Industry and Resources. Additional 6 exploration licence applications were made in July 

and August 2010.The size, location and target minerals in each of the exploration tenements applied are presented in Table 2 below. 

 

Figure 8:  Locations of Ishine’s exploration projects

State Tenement Number Date Applied Size, km2 Locality Target Minerals

WA

3,416km2

E38/2435 9-Apr-10 71 Laverton Ni, Au

E70/3880 15-Apr-10 225 Narembeen Au

E77/1786 19-Apr-10 225 Merredin, Narem-
been and Yilgarn

Fe

E80/4448 18-May-10 496 Halls Creek Zinc, Lead

E04/2031 18-May-10 261 Derby Copper, Lead, 
Zinc

E80/4450 14-Jun-10 132 Halls Creek Ni, Cu, Co

E37/1073 24-Jun-10 106 Laverton Ni, Au

E39/1582 24-Jun-10 90 Laverton Ni, Au

E37/1074 24-Jun10 84 Laverton Ni, Au

E69/2810 24Jun10 644 Gunbarrel Cu, Ni

E69/2811 24-Jun-10 631 Gunbarrel Cu, Ni

E69/2812 24-Jun-10 451 Gunbarrel Cu, Ni

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
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State Tenement Number Date Applied Size, km2 Locality Target Minerals

SA

5,527 km2

E196/10 28-Jun-10 699 Tarlina Cu, Ni, Pb, Zinc, 
Mineral Sand

EL197/10 29-Jun-10 648 Tarlina Cu, Ni, Pb, Zinc, 
Mineral Sand

EL198/10 1-Jul-10 218 Ooldea Range Cu, Ni, Pb, Zinc, 
Mineral Sand

EL234/10 28-Jul-10 340 Mulga Wells Au, Co, U

EL239/10 4-Aug-10 992 Mulgaria U

EL252/10 18-Aug-10 218 Willouran Ranges U

EL259/10 25-Aug-10 969 Willouran Ranges U

EL260/10 25-Aug-10 690 Willouran Ranges U

EL261/10 25-Aug-10 753 Willouran Ranges U

Summary 21 Tenements 8,943 WA and SA Fe, Cu, Ni, Au, Pb, 
Zn, Co, U, Mineral 

Sand

Note: All tenements above remain on application as of 30 September 2010. Ishine owns 100% mineral interest in them.

Table 2: Ishine’s New Exploration Tenements Applied before 30 August 2010

(i) Eastern Goldfields, WA – E37/1073, E38/2435, E39/1582, E37/1074

These four projects shown in Figure 9 are within the greenstone belt of the Yilgarn Craton in the Eastern Goldfields of Western Australia 
near Laverton and Leonora. Discovery of gold, nickel and base metal in the project areas and their surrounding ground can be traced back 
to as early as the late 19th century. 

Figure 9: Ishine’s four exploration projects in Laverton, WA

  

Figure 9: Ishine’s four exploration projects in Laverton, WA

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
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E37/1073, E37/1074 and E39/1582 - Gold Potential 

In recent time, interest in gold in this project region in the 1980s and 1990s lead to a number of new discoveries and the development of 
several major gold mining centres. The major operational mines of the region include Emu, Sunrise, Wallaby, Lawlers, Tarmoola, Sons of 
Gwalia, Thunderbox, and Sunrise Dam (including Cleo). Past major producers include Granny Smith, Beasley Creek, Bottle Creek, Lancefield, 
Burtville, Kookynie, Harbour Lights, Tower Hill, and Mount Morgans, with smaller operations at Linden and Yundamindera. There are a 
number of deposits yet to be developed near Laverton and to the south, including the Chatterbox Shear deposits (Whisper, Rumour, Innuendo 
and Garden Well). 

E38/2435 - Nickel Potential

Situated in the Laverton greenstone belt, exploration over this tenement ground will be aiming at nickel sulfides.

Historical exploration and mining to date reveals that intense nickel exploration in the late 1960s and 1970s was focused on ultramafic-hosted 
nickel sulfide deposits in the Agnew–Wiluna, Murrin, and the Laverton greenstone belts.

The area to be explored is near Mount Windarra and South Windarra where sulfide nickel deposit is disseminated throughout peridotite at the 
base of a particular ultramafic volcanic flow, which is stratigraphically the lowermost ultramafic unit of the Margaret Anticline stratigraphy. 

(ii) Gunbarrel, WA – E69/2810, E69/2811 and E69/2812 –Base Metal (Cu and Nickel etc)

These three tenements shown in Figure 10  lie in close proximity to the Arunta-Musgrave Igneous Complex where there are 89 mineral occur-
rences known to date. Recent exploration to the east and north (in the Northern Territory, South Australia, and Western Australia) shows that 

the Granites–Tanami Complex and the Arunta Orogen are highly prospective for metallic minerals.

 

Figure 10: Ishine’s three exploration tenements in Gunbarrel, WA

In the Musgrave Complex, the first significant mineralisation was discovered in 1955 by Southwestern Mining (a subsidiary of INCO) at 
Wingellina. An early resource estimate for the nickel laterite deposits was reported by Nickel Mines of Australia NL (a joint venture partner 
with INCO at Wingellina) as 56mt averaging 1.24% Ni (for 0.697mt contained nickel) and 0.09% Co. Further work by Acclaim Exploration has 
recently resulted in an estimated measured, indicated, and inferred resources of 227mt at 1% nickel for 2.3mt of contained nickel. 

Significant nickel sulfide mineralisation has recently been discovered by WMC Ltd at the Nebo and Babel deposits, in layered mafic rocks in 
the Giles Complex of the west Musgrave area, about 125 km to the west of Wingellina (WMC Ltd, 2002). Nebo’s drilling in the past intersected 
62 m averaging 1.14% Ni, 0.87% Cu, 0.04% Co, and 0.4 g/t platinum group metals and gold. This intersection includes 26.5 m averaging 2.45% 
Ni, 1.78% Cu, 0.09% Co, and 0.74 g/t precious elements. The mineralized body was intersected 50 m beneath the surface.

WMC undertook diamond drilling in 2002 in and around the Babel and Nebo prospects, and also at another prospect known as Gerar located 
10 km north of Babel. One drillhole at Babel intersected 41.6 m averaging 0.81% Ni and 1.37% Cu, from about 34 m beneath the surface (WMC 
Ltd, 2002, 2003).

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
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New interpretation of the regional geology has shifted the focus of sulfide nickel exploration to the basement gneiss, where targets have been 
identified for further testing. 

About 30 km north of Nebo and Babel drilling by WMC has intersected anomalous concentrations of titanium, vanadium, and precious metals 
within bands of magnetite (WMC Ltd, 2000).

West Musgrave Mining Ltd reported that it had also located copper–gold mineralization in a quartz vein in Tollu Group volcanic rocks about 8 
km southeast of Voyager 2 in the company’s Cavenagh Range project area. The mineralized quartz vein is up to 2 m wide and can be traced 
for approximately 300 m. Samples returned maximum values of 5.3 g/t Au and 6.34% Cu.

The copper mineralisation in the area is mainly of two types. One type is related to the felsic volcanic rocks found at Tollu, Pussy Cat Hill, Mount 
Elvire, Scamp Hill, Mount Palgrave, Mount Eliza, and Domeyer Hill; and the other type is related to the basaltic rocks in the Warburton area.

In association with copper, there are small occurrences of fluorite, lead, zinc, silver, agate, and gold, all in the Musgrave Complex, associated 
with felsic volcanic rocks.

Other important mineral commodity in the Musgrave Complex is vanadium. The most significant vanadium occurrences are associated with 
the titaniferous magnetite bands in ultramafic and mafic rocks of the Jameson Range Gabbro of the Giles Complex. Vanadium was also found 

in regolith samples collected by South Western Mining Ltd (INCO subsidiary) from the Michael Hills and Bell Rock Range areas.

(iii) East Kimberley, Halls Creek - E80/4450 and E80/4448

Ishine’s tenements E80/4450 and E80/4448 are contained within aspects of the Eastern and Central Zones of the Lamboo Ogneous Complex in 
the East Kimberley area covering most of the Halls Creek Orogen, as well as the eastern end of the King Leopol Orogen, part of the Granites 
– Tanami Complex, and parts of the Speewah, Kimberley, Ord, Bonaparte, Canning, and Birrindudu Basins. Figure 11 shows the tenement 
locations and associated mineral occurrence.

 

Figure 11: Ishine’s two exploration tenements in Halls Creek, WA

Potential minerals identified in these two project areas are gold and base metal.

Exploration for volcanogenic massive sulfide (VMS) and volcanogenic exhalative base metal deposits, mainly in the vicinity of the earlier 
discoveries, has continued since 1975. The most significant deposits defined are Anglo Australian Resources NL which recently announced 
JORC resource of 4 million tonnes of ore with 3.8% Zn and 1.5% Cu and 0.2% Pb, 17g/t Ag and 0.4g/t Au. Their July 2010 announcement 
revealed an intersection of 71m @ 5.04% Cu, 7.69% Zn, 68 g/t Ag and 0.43 g/t Au in SRC061, which contained an interval of 15m @ 9.4% Cu, 
214 g/t Ag and 0.19 g/t Au corresponding to the zone of supergene copper enrichment at the top of the Sandiego Deposit.

Gold was another commodity to be sought in this area. This was supported by Precious Metals Australia which commenced open pit gold 
production at the Palm Springs mine in April 1995, and 2,272 kg of gold was produced before the mine was placed on care and maintenance 
in April 1997 as a result of falling gold prices.

The potential for nickel is evidenced by a number of nickel miners. Of which, most of the nickel occurrences are in Group V intrusions in 
the Central zone of the Lamboo Complex and the most significant is the Sally Malay deposit. The massive sulfides are overlain by minor 

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
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stringerstyle chalcopyrite–pyrrhotite–pentlandite mineralization (Shedden and Barnes, 1996). The Sally Malay deposit has an indicated and 
inferred resource of 3.85 Mt averaging 1.79% Ni, 0.73% Cu, and 0.10% Co. Group V (Sally Malay) intrusions also host nickel–copper sulfide 

mineralisation at the Keller Creek.

(iv) West Kimberley, Broome / Derby – E04/2031

The tenement shown is focused upon Lower Permian sediments within the Fitzroy Graben of the Lennard Shelf where a number 
of lead/zinc deposits were discovered and mined as shown in Figure 12.

 

Figure 12:  Ishine’s project in West Kimberley and regionally discovered base metal deposits

The Lennard Shelf region is one of the world’s premier Mississippi Valley Type (“MVT”) zinc-lead provinces containing pre-mining zinc-lead 
resources of 41 million tonnes (“Mt”) @ 7.9% zinc and 3.2% lead.

BHP Minerals commenced exploration of the Lennard Shelf region in the late 1970’s. After several years of extensive exploration the Cadjebut 
deposit was discovered in 1984, Goongewa in 1987 and Kapok in 1989. BHP Minerals and Billiton jointly brought Cadjebut into production 
in 1987 and in the mid-1990’s both BHP Minerals and Billiton sold their respective interests in the Lennard Shelf Project to Western Metals.

Following purchase of the project, Western Metals continued with exploration and extended the known resources at Cadjebut, Goongewa, 
Kapok, Kapok West and discovered a new resource at Kutarta. Production from Cadjebut ceased in 1998. Goongewa produced from 1995 to 
2001, and Kapok from 1997 until 2003.

Teck purchased the Lennard Shelf assets from the receivers of Western Metals in 2003 and subsequently sold a 50% interest in the project to 
Noranda (now Xstrata), forming the joint venture company Lennard Shelf Pty Ltd (LSPL).

LSPL undertook exploration within the Lennard Shelf tenements during the field seasons of 2004, 2005, 2006, 2007 and 2008. Highlights 
included intersecting previously undiscovered mineralisation at the Palijippa prospect in 2005 where, following further drilling in 2006, an 
in-house inferred resource was estimated. The Palijippa discovery by LSPL demonstrates the excellent potential of the project area for the 
discovery of additional mineral resources.

Meridian Minerals Limited recently reported its best drilling intersection at the Kapok West prospect with up to 22.5% combined lead and zinc.

(v) Merredin and Narabeen, WA - E77/1786 and E70/3880

The target mineral in the tenement E77/1786 area is magnetite iron ore contained within banded iron formations (“BIF”). Public domain 
airborne magnetic data provides evidence for the occurrence of BIF in the project area. The project area is approximately 35km west of the 
main Southern Cross greenstone belt which hosts the Mt Caudan iron deposit discovered by Cazaly Resources Ltd where some of the results 
revealed 18m @ 58.0% Fe and 16m @ 59.7% Fe. 

This tenement covers an area of approximately 225km2 and overlies a portion of the poorly known greenstone belt, which is surrounded by 
post-tectonic intrusive granites. Based on previous mapping and shallow drilling, the greenstone belt is known to contain mafic, ultramafic 
and sedimentary rocks, including BIF. Outcrop within the area is scarce due to a widespread cover of tertiary laterite, aeolian sand and soil.

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
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Figure 13:  Ishine’s projects in Merredin-Narabeen region, WA (Magnetics background)

Tenement E70/3880 covers an area of approximately 225km2 and is approximately 70km west of the main Southern Cross greenstone belt. It 
lies immediately to the north of tenement M70/815, which contains the Gault-Tampa Hill gold resource and is reported to contain a resource 
of 3,300Kg Gold, 1 million tones @3.3 g/t. 

The tenement and its nearby area also contain several small historical gold workings, which were explored during the 1990’s by several 
companies. Gold mineralisation occurs within quartz veins and quartz-rich granitic stringers hosted by sediments, mafic-to-felsic granulites 

and gabbroic rocks. (Cambrian Resources Ltd 1994-1996 and St Barbara Mines Ltd 1994).

(vi) Ooldea Range, Eucla basin, SA - EL198/10

Large, zircon-rich, heavy mineral (“HM”) sand deposits have recently been discovered by Iluka Resources Limited and other companies in 
old Tertiary shore line deposited along the eastern margin of the highly prospective Eucla Basin, South Australia. The largest and highest 
grade of these, Jacinth, Ambrosia and Tripitake are deposited at distinctive headland and embayment settings, which suggests that anomalous 

mineralisation extends across an extensive area and the mineralisation detected occurs in unconsolidated sands above the water table.

 

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
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Figure 14:  Ishine’s project in Ooldea Range, SA

First pass drilling of Red Metal’s Barton project this year successfully discovered an extensive blanket of low grade, heavy mineral sand situ-
ated along the same Tertiary shore line that hosts Iluka Resources’ Majave discovery. Early success at Barton highlights potential for additional 
HM along the Barton to Mojave shore line trend and in particular an untested headland and empayment target immediately southwest from 
the new Barton occurrence. This target is significant as it is interpreted to have potential for high-grade HM trap sites in similar target settings 

to the nearby Jacinth and Ambrosia deposits and is scheduled for drill testing next year.

(vii) Tarlina, Gwaler Craton, SA - EL196~197/10

Ishine’s Tarlina project, comprising an area of approximately 1,347km2, is located in the north-central region of South Australia and centred 
approximately 150km northwest of Coober Pedy. An initial aircore drilling program carried out on the neighboring ground by Diatreme Re-
sources is believed to be prospective for mineral sands. Stratigraphic units favourable for the development of heavy mineral strands were 
identified in the western group of tenements, with shoreface development varying in thickness up to 15m. It has been interpreted that the 
topographic highs within certain tenements correlate with barrier systems displaying signs of beach development, such as exists at Diatreme’s 

Cyclone Deposit in Western Australia. 

 

Figure 15:  Ishine’s project in Tarlina, SA (Gravity anomaly)

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
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(viii) Project Area 8 – Mulgaria, West of Olympic Dam, SA, EL234/10

The Gawler Craton is an Archaean to Mesoproterozoic crystalline basement crustal block in central South Australia. Its margins 
are delineated to the northeast, northwest and west by faults and Neoproterozoic and Phanerozoic sedimentary basins. In the 
east and southeast, the Torrens Hinge Zone defines the margin, adjacent to the western limit of the Adelaide Fold Belt. The 
southern boundary is coincident with the edge of the continental shelf. Much of the area is covered by thin platform sediments 
and regolith of Neoproterozoic to Cainozoic age. The Gawler Craton hosts the world’s largest uranium occurrence at Olympic 
Dam (also the world’s fourth-largest remaining deposit of copper) and the recent discoveries of Prominent Hill (Cu, Au), Tunkillia 
(Au) and Peculiar Knob (Fe) attest to the prospectivity of the area.

Ishine holds approximately 340km2 of exploration licence application within the Central Gawler Gold Province in South Australia. 
The project is located on major mineralised structures along strike from historic and or recently discovered gold mineralisation 
and in areas where the prospective bedrock is obscured by shallow surficial soil cover. The project area is also prospective for 
palaeochannel-hosted uranium mineralisation and iron oxide copper gold (IOCG) deposits.

Figure 16:  Ishine’s project in Mulgaria, SA (Magnetics background)

(ix) Willouran Range, North of Olympic Dam, SA, EL239, 252,259-261/10

Australia holds the world’s largest uranium resources (36%) and is the second largest producer of mined uranium (19%) from 3 
world-class mines. The world largest known uranium deposits, the Olympic Dam, located in the world class uranium provinces in 
South Australia has a resource of 8,339Mt @ 0.028% U3O8 for 2,327,000t U3O8. In the past few months, Ishine has aggressively 
pegged a prospective ground of 3,622km2 over five exploration tenements in north of Olympic Dam. According to the South 
Australia state radiometrics map, Ishine’s five tenements which hold strong uranium radiometric anomalies as shown in Figure 
17 are highly prospective for Olympic Dam style of uranium mineralisation. 

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
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Figure 17:  Ishine’s project in Willouran Range, SA (Uranium radiometrics background)

The information in this report that relates to Exploration Progress has been prepared by Mr Martin Dormer, who is a member of the Australian 
Institute of Mining and Metallurgy, and a full time employee of Ishine International Resources Ltd. Mr Dormer has sufficient relevant exerienceein 
the techniques being reported and styles of mineralisation and type of deposit under consideration, and in the activity he is undertaking, to 
qualify as a Competent Person as defined in the 2004 Edition of the “Australian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources 
and Ore Reserves” (the JORC Code), and consents to the inclusion of information in the form and context in which it appears.
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The directors of Ishine International Resources Limited submit herewith the annual report of the Company for the period ended 30 June 
2010. In order to comply with the provisions of the Corporations Act 2001, the Directors’ report is as follows:

INFORMATION ABOUT THE DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
The names and particulars of the directors of the Company during or since the end of the financial year are: 
Name Particulars

Mr Yunde Li
Executive Chairman
(Appointed 18 September 2009)

Mr Yunde Li has been a Director, General Manager and a principal shareholder of 
Ishine Mining Group Co. Ltd (IMGC) since 2001. He is an economist and has over 20 
years experience in mining and mineral processing with extensive training in business 
administration at Beijing University and Tsinghua University. 

From 1966 to 2001 he was General Manager of Yishui Xinxing Mining prior to the 
privatisation and IMGC. He has been involved as an investor, promoter and/or director 
in resource companies such as, Yishui Xingxing Mining Pty Ltd, Shangdong Ishine 
Mining Co, Yishui Heshen Mineral Process Pty Ltd, which have joint assets of over 
$200 million and generate an annual profit of approximate $70 million.

Mr Yunde Li has not held any directorships of other listed companies in the last 3 
years. 

Dr Caigen Wang
Managing Director 
(Appointed 18 December 2009)

Non-executive Director 
(30 October 2009 – 18 December 2009) 

Dr Caigen Wang is a professional mining engineer with over 20 years international 
mining experience in Australia, Canada and China. His technical experience has in-
volved both base metal projects and coal projects with extensive experience in min-
eral project evaluation and strategic mine planning. 

He graduated from the China University of Mining and Technology in 1986 major-
ing in mining engineering. He earned his Master’s Degree and PhD from the same 
university in 1989 and 1995, respectively, and later undertook research fellowships in 
Australia and Canada. Dr Wang is a Chartered Professional Engineer of the Institution 
of Engineers, Australia, and a member of AusIMM.

Dr Caigen Wang has been working in Australia for over 11 years as a senior techni-
cal member for companies including WMC Resources Ltd, BHP Billiton Nickel West 
Pty Ltd, St Barbara Limited and Sons of Gwalia Ltd. His most recent role was mine 
manager and general manager for China Gold Mines PLC, a London listed Australian 
Mining Company.

Dr Caigen Wang is a non-executive Director of Athena Resources Limited, a company 
listed on the ASX.

Mr Hongwei Cao 
Non-executive Director 
(Appointed 18 September 2009)

Mr Hongwei Cao is a certified economist and finance adviser who graduated with 
a Bachelor’s Degree from the East China University of Science and Technology in 
1990 and with a Master’s Degree in economics from Henan University in 2001. He 
has extensive expertise in corporate finance and investment with many years senior 
management experience for publicly listed companies including Shangdong Taishang 
Petroleum Ltd and Taian Ruren Ltd.

Mr Hongwei Cao has not held any directorships of other listed companies in the last 
3 years. 

Ms Ling Lu 
Non-executive Director
(Appointed 18 September 2009)

Ms Ling Lu graduated with a Bachelor’s Degree in economics from Anhui University 
of Finance and Economics in 1998. She has over 20 years business management 
experience and is currently a general manager for Beijing East Silver Valley Resource 
Investment Pty Ltd. Ms Ling Lu has extensive experience in corporate business 
administration and commercial operations.

Ms Ling Lu has not held any directorships of other listed companies in the last 3 years. 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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Name Particulars

Mr Naiming (James) Li 
Non-executive Director
(Appointed 18 September 2009) 

Mr James Li holds a Bachelor’s Degree from Fudan University in China in Science, 
Majoring in Organic Chemistry and a Post Graduate Diploma in Industrial Chemistry 
from Swinburne, Victoria, Australia. He was one of the first stockbrokers from main-
land China to work in Melbourne and has been working in the Australian stockbroking 
industry for more than 10 years. He is currently the Chief Representative of China 
Business in a major full services broking house in Australia.

He provides financial services to the Chinese communities across Australia and over-
seas. He has been involved in a range of major corporate deals in Australia involving 
China, including facilitating the first uranium deal between Australia and China in 2006 
and initiating and facilitating the financing of Abra Mining Limited in 2007. In recent 
years, Mr James Li has assisted several Chinese companies with their ASX listing.

Mr James Li is a non-executive Director of Rocklands Richfield Ltd which is listed in 
the ASX. 

Mr Mark Muzzin 

Non-executive Director

(Appointed 1 February 2010) 

Mr Mark Muzzin has had over 20 years of commercial experience and holds a B.A. 
degree from Latrobe University, Melbourne. His career commenced in the mid 
eighties for a London stock broking firm and he has consulted for two of the major 
banks in Australia in the share custodian area. He has been involved in capital raising 
activities for resource companies in Australia and has consulted to various oil/gas and 
minerals companies.  Mr Mark Muzzin has served as General Manager of a number 
of public companies. 

Mr Mark Muzzin is the Managing Director/CEO of Strategic Energy Resources Limited, 
an ASX listed company, and is a Director of two US (OTCBB) quoted companies. He is 
also a Director of a number of Australian public and private companies. 

Directors’ shareholdings
The following table sets out each director’s relevant interest in shares of the Company as at the date of this report. There were no options on 
issue to directors during the period up to the date of this report.

     Shares

Held directly Held  indirectly

Mr Yunde Li (i) * 10,000,000 59,600,000

Dr Caigen Wang (ii) - -

Mr Hongwei Cao (i) - -

Ms Ling Lu (i) *          - 59,600,000

Mr Naiming (James) Li (i) - -

Mr Mark Muzzin (iii) - -

(i)  Appointed 18 September 2009
(ii) Appointed 18 December 2009 as Managing Director; Appointed 30 October 2009 as non-executive Director
(iii) Appointed 1 February 2010
* The 59,600,000 shares are held in the name of Shandong Ishine Mining Industry Co Ltd (a company in which the Director is a shareholder).

There were no shares issued during or since the end of the period as a result of the exercise of options. 

Company secretary
Name Particulars

Mr Leonard Math 

BBus, CA

(Appointed 18 September 2009) 

Mr Leonard Math graduated from Edith Cowan University, majoring in Accounting and 
Information Systems, in 2003 and is a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants. 
In 2005 Mr Leonard Math worked in the audit division at Deloitte before joining GDA 
Corporate. He is currently the Manager for Corporate Services at GDA Corporate.
His public company responsibilities include corporate compliance roles, including 
extensive liaison with ASX and ASIC, control and implementation of corporate 
governance, completion of annual financial reports and auditor liaison, and shareholder 
relations with registry and shareholders both retail and institutional.
He is the Company Secretary of Catalpa Resources Limited, Ethan Minerals Limited 
and Mako Energy Limited. 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activity of the Company during the period was the exploration of mineral prospects. 

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
A review of the Company operations for the period is set out in the Review of Operations on pages 3 to 17 of this report.

CHANGES IN THE STATE OF AFFAIRS
Apart from notes elsewhere in this report, no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Company occurred during the financial year.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
No matters or circumstances, besides those disclosed at note 26, have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly affected 
or may significantly affect the operations of the Company, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Company in future 
financial years.

FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS
The Company will continue its mineral exploration activities with the objective of finding mineralised resources. 

DIVIDENDS
No dividends were paid or declared during the financial year. No recommendation for payment of dividends has been made.

ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATIONS
The Company is subject to significant environmental regulation in respect to its exploration activities.  The Company aims to ensure the ap-
propriate standard of environmental care is achieved, and in doing so, that it is aware of and is in compliance with all environmental legisla-
tion. The directors of the Company are not aware of any breach of environmental legislation for the year under review.

SHARES UNDER OPTION
Details of unissued shares or interests under option as at the date of this report are:

Issuing entity Number of shares under 
option

Class of shares Exercise price of option Expiry date of options

Ishine International 
Resources Limited 

5,000,000 Unlisted Options 20 cents 31 December 2015

Ishine International 
Resources Limited

1,175,000 Unlisted Options 20 cents 29 March 2013

IMDEMNIFICATION OF OFFICERS AND AUDITORS
During the financial year the Company paid a premium in respect of a contract insuring the directors of the Company, the company secretar-
ies and all executive officers of the Company and of any related body corporate against a liability incurred as such a director, secretary or 
executive officer to the extent permitted by the Corporations Act 2001.  The contract of insurance prohibits disclosure of the nature of the 
liability and the amount of the premium.

The Company has entered into a Deed of Indemnity, Insurance and Access with each Director. In summary the Deed provides for:

 Access to corporate records for each Director for a period after ceasing to hold office in the Company,

 The provision of Directors and Officers Liability Insurance, and

 Indemnity for legal costs incurred by Directors in carrying out the business affairs of the Company. 

Except for the above the Company has not otherwise, during or since the financial year, except to the amount permitted by law, indemnified 
or agreed to indemnify an officer or auditor of the Company or of any related body corporate against a liability incurred as such an officer or 
auditor.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS
The following table sets out the number of directors’ meetings held during the period ended 30 June 2010 and the number of meetings attended 
by each director (while they were a director).  During the financial period 4 board meetings were held.

Board of Directors

Directors No of eligible meetings 
to attend

Number
attended

Mr Yunde Li 4 4

Dr Caigen Wang 4 4

Mr Hongwei Cao 4 3

Ms Ling Lu 4 -

Mr Naiming (James) Li 4 4

Mr Mark Muzzin  1 1

NON-AUDIT SERVICES
Details of amounts paid or payable to the auditor for non-audit services provided during the period by the auditor are outlined in note 24 to 
the financial statements.

The directors are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services during the period by the auditor is compatible with the general standard of 
independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001.

The directors are of the opinion that the services disclosed in note 24 to the financial statements do not compromise the external auditor’s 
independence, based on advice received from the Audit Committee, for the following reasons:

 All non-audit services have been reviewed to ensure they do not impact the integrity and objectivity of the auditor; and

 None of the services undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out in Code of Conduct APES 
110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants issued by the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board, including 
reviewing or auditing the auditor’s own work, acting in a management or decision-making capacity for the Company, acting as 
advocate for the Company or jointly sharing economic risks and rewards.

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION
The Auditor’s Independence Declaration is included on page 25 of the financial report. 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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REMUNERATION REPORT (audited)
This remuneration report, which forms part of the directors’ report, sets out information about the remuneration of Ishine International 
Resources’ directors and senior management for the period ended 30 June 2010.  The prescribed details for each person covered by this 
report are detailed below under the following headings:

 director and senior management details

 remuneration policy

 remuneration of directors and senior management

 key terms of employment contracts

Director and senior management details

The following persons acted as directors or senior management during or since the end of the period:

Mr Yunde Li Executive Chairman (Appointed 18 September 2009)

Dr Caigen Wang Managing Director (Appointed 18 December 2009)

Non-executive Director (Appointed 
30 October 2009 – 18 December 
2009)

Mr Hong Wei Cao Non-executive Director (Appointed 18 September 2009)

Ms Ling Lu Non-executive Director (Appointed 18 September 2009)

Mr Naiming (James) Li Non-executive Director (Appointed 18 September 2009) 

Mr Mark Muzzin Non-executive Director (Appointed 1 February 2010)

The term “senior management” is used in this remuneration report to refer to the following persons.  Except as noted the named persons held 
their current positions for the whole of the period and since the end of the period:

Mr Leonard Math Company Secretary (Appointed 18 September 2009) 

Remuneration policy

Remuneration levels for executives are competitively set to attract the most qualified and experienced candidates, taking into account prevailing 
market conditions and individual’s experience and qualifications.

Each of the non-executive Directors receives a fixed fee for their services as Directors. There is no direct link between remuneration paid to 
any of the Directors and corporate performance such as bonus payments for achievement of certain key performance indicators.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT



23Ishine International Resources Ltd.

2010

Remuneration of directors and senior management 
The directors and the Company executives received the following amounts as compensation for their services as directors and executives  
of the

Company during the period:

Period ended 30 June 2010 (v)

Short-term employee benefits Post- 
employment 

benefits

Name Cash salary 
and fees

$

Other services

$

Super-annuation

$

Share-based 
payment – options

$

Total

$

% consisting of 
options

$

Directors

Yunde Li (i) - - - - - -

Caigen Wang (ii) 116,667 - 10,500 - 127,167 -

Hongwei Cao (i) - - - - - -

Ling Lu (i) - - - - - -

Naiming (James) Li (i) 37,600 - - - 37,600 -

Mark Muzzin (iii) 20,000 - - - 20,000 -

Executives

Leonard Math (i) (iv) 19,500 84,623 - - 104,123

TOTAL 193,767 84,623 10,500 - 288,890 -

(i)      Appointed 18 September 2009
(ii)     Appointed 18 December 2009 as Managing Director; Appointed 30 October 2009 – 18 December 2009 as Non-executive Director 
(iii) Appointed 1 February 2010
(iv)  These payments are to GDA Corporate, a company of which Leonard Math is an employee. The fees include accounting, company secretarial and 
 consultancy services provided to Ishine. 
(v)    The Company was incorporated in the current period, and therefore, no prior comparatives are available.   

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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Share-based payments granted as compensation in the current financial year

There were no options issued to directors and key management personnel as compensation during or since the end of the period.

Performance of Ishine International Resources Limited
The table below sets out summary information about the entity’s earnings and movements in shareholder wealth for the period ending  
30 June 2010.

30 June 2010

$

Revenue              18,658

Net loss before tax       (1,123,128)

Net loss after tax       (1,123,128)

30 June 2010

$

Share price as at 18 December 2009 (Date of listing) $0.20

Share price at end of year $0.27

Dividends -

Basic and diluted earnings per share (cents per share) (1.30)

Key Terms of Employment Contracts
On 18 December 2009, Dr Caigen Wang was appointed as Managing Director of the Company. His minimum remuneration package is $200,000 
per annum base salary plus statutory superannuation of 9% (‘package’). In addition to the package, the Company will (subject to the approval 
of shareholders at the Annual General Meeting) issue Dr Caigen Wang with 500,000 ordinary fully paid shares in the Company, subject to 12 
months escrow and on the terms and conditions set out in the employment agreement. Dr Caigen Wang has been engaged under an open term 
arrangement i.e. no fixed term. This agreement may be terminated at any time by either party giving 4 months’ notice in writing to the other. 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors.

Dr Caigen Wang 

Managing Director

Perth, 30 September 2010  

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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Ishine’s Directors are committed to the standards of corporate governance. This statement describes the Company’s corporate governance 
framework. As a listed entity, the Company is required to disclose the extent to which it has followed the ‘Corporate Governance Principles and 
Recommendations 2nd Edition’ issued by the ASX Corporate Governance Council (‘Governance Recommendations’). Details of the Company’s 
compliance with the Governance Recommendations are set out in the relevant sections of this statement.

Board of Directors – Role of the Board

The Board’s primary role is the protection and enhancement of long-term shareholder value.

The purpose of the Board Charter is to set out the role, composition and responsibilities of the Board of Ishine within the corporate governance 
framework and to ensure:

 that the roles and responsibilities of the Board are clear and understood by all relevant stakeholders;

 the operation of the Board and the relationship between the Board and the management is clearly understood; and

 all Directors have a clear understanding of the manner in which the Board will conduct itself and the Company’s expectations 
of them as Directors.

The Board is responsible for the overall corporate governance of the Company. The Board recognises the need for the highest standards of 
behaviour and accountability for managing the Company’s business and affairs.

The Board’s responsibilities encompass the following:

 establishing the Company’s corporate level and business level goals and monitoring and implementing strategies to achieve 
these goals;

 setting the strategic direction and financial objectives of the Company and ensuring appropriate resources are available;

 monitoring the implementation of those policies and strategies and the achievement of those financial objectives;

 reviewing the performance of all Board members and overseeing succession plans for the senior executive team;

 ensuring that the Company has appropriate corporate governance structures in place including standards of ethical behaviour 
and a culture of corporate and social responsibility;

 ensuring that effective audit, risk and controls are in place to protect the Company’s assets;

 formulate risk management strategies and identify, design and implement policies;

 monitor the risk management process and strategies;

 to set specific limits of authority for the executive management to commit to new expenditure and enter into new contracts 
without prior Board approval;

 ensuring that the Board is and remains appropriately skilled to meet the changing needs of the Company;

 monitoring compliance with regulatory requirements (including continuous disclosure);

 review the Board succession plans;

 monitoring ASX and regulatory disclosure requirements;

 monitoring the integrity of reporting including ensuring the preparation of accurate financial reports and statements;

 ensuring effective and timely reporting to various stakeholders; and

 ensuring that the shareholders are informed of all major developments affecting the Company’s state of affairs.

Composition of the Board

It is the policy of Ishine that the Board comprises members who combine a range of knowledge, skills and experience that are appropriate to 
its activities and objectives.

The Board currently comprised of 6 Directors, 4 of whom hold their positions in a non-executive capacity. 

The composition of the Board is subject to review in the following ways:

 The Constitution provides that at every annual general meeting, one third of the Directors are to retire from office. Each 
Director under the Constitution is eligible for re-election.

 The Board considers its composition on a regular basis to ensure that it has available an appropriate mix of skills and experience 
to ensure the interest of shareholders are served.

Independence

As stated, the Board has an Executive Chairman, a Managing Director and 4 other Non-Executive Directors of which 1 of the non-executive 
Directors is a shareholder in the controlling Shareholder of the Company, Shandong Ishine Mining Industry Co. Ltd. which holds 59,600,000 
Shares (72.95% of the Company upon listing on the ASX). The remaining 3 Non-Executive Directors provide Board independence.
The Board (and each individual Director) is entitled to seek independent professional advice at the Company’s expense (subject to the 
reasonableness of the costs and Board consent) in the conduct of their duties for the Company.
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Board Committees

The Board considers that the Company is not currently of a size, or its affairs of such complexity, to justify the establishment of separate Board 
Committees. Accordingly, at present all matters that may be capable of delegation to Committees are dealt with by the full Board.

Remuneration and Nomination Procedures

The Board considers that the Company is not of a size to justify the formation of a remuneration or nomination Committee. The Board is able 
to address these aspects of the Company’s activities and will adhere with the appropriate ethical standards and with the remunerations and 
nomination procedures.

The Board will review the remuneration policies and packages of all Directors and senior executive officers on at least an annual basis. The 
Board will also periodically review the composition of the Board and make necessary changes to ensure that it comprises persons who have 
the skill and experience appropriate for the business activities and operations undertaken by the Company.

If a vacancy occurs or if it is considered that the Board would benefit from the services and skills of an additional Director, the Board will select 
and appoint the most suitable candidate. Any such appointee would be required under the Constitution to retire at the next annual general 
meeting and is eligible for re-election by the shareholders at that meeting.

Ethical Standards – Code of Conduct 

The Board recognizes the need to observe the highest standards of corporate governance practice, business and ethical conduct by all Directors, 
employees, consultants and contractors. Accordingly the Board has adopted a formal code of conduct to be followed by all employees, officers 
and external parties engaged by the Company.

The key aspects of the code are:

1.  To act with honesty, integrity and fairness;

2.  To act in accordance with the law;

3.  To use the Company resources and property appropriately.

Securities Trading Policy

The Company has a formal securities dealing policy for Directors contained in the corporate ethics and securities trading policy.

Under this policy Directors must not buy or sell securities in the week immediately before and following the lodgement of periodic reports 
required under the Corporations Act and the Listing Rules. At other times, Directors may only buy or sell securities following consultation with 
the Chairman. In all instances any person who possesses price sensitive information that is not available to the market is not permitted to buy 
or sell securities in accordance with the provisions of the Corporations Act 2001 and the Listing Rules. The Company on behalf of the Directors, 
must advise the ASX of any transactions conducted by them in the Company’s Securities.

Continuous Disclosure Policy

The Company is committed to continuous disclosure of material information as a means of promoting transparency and investor confidence. 
The Company’s practices are designed to ensure it is compliant with the ASX Listing Rules, including in particular those relating to continuous 
disclosure.

Communications to Shareholders

The Board aims to ensure that Shareholders are informed of all major developments affecting the Company’s state of affairs. Information 
will be communicated to Shareholders through the Company’s annual report, annual general meeting, half-yearly results announcements and 
other ASX announcements.

Appointments to Other Boards

Directors are required to take into consideration any potential conflicts of interest when accepting appointments to other Boards.

Conflict of Interest

In accordance with the Corporations Act and the Company’s Constitution, Directors must keep the Board advised, on an ongoing basis, of 
any interest that could potentially conflict with those of the Company. Where the Board believes that a significant conflict exists, the Director 
concerned does not receive the relevant Board papers and is not present at the meeting whilst the item is considered.

Performance Evaluation of the Board and Its Members

The size of and the nature of the Company’s activities make the establishment of a formal performance evaluation strategy unnecessary. 
Performance evaluation is a discretionary matter for consideration by the entire Board and in the normal course of events the Board will 
review performance of the management, Directors and the Board as a whole.
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Company’s Remuneration Policies

Remuneration levels for executives are competitively set to attract the most qualified and experienced candidates, taking into account prevailing 
market conditions and individual’s experience and qualifications.

Each of the non-executive Directors receives a fixed fee for their services as Directors. There is no direct link between remuneration paid to 
any of the Directors and corporate performance such as bonus payments for achievement of certain key performance indicators.

Schemes for Retirement Benefits for Non-executive Directors

There are no retirement benefits for non-executive Directors.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
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PERIOD ENDED 30 JUNE 2010 Notes Company

30 June 2010 (i)

$

Revenue 5 18,658

Other income 6(a) 2,899

Depreciation expense (15,666)

Consultancy fees (25,547)

Tenement and exploration expenses (354,084)

Interest expenses (342)

Accounting and audit fees (35,092)

Occupancy expenses (76,509)

Legal expenses (5,895)

Loss arising on financial assets (137,505)

Share of loss of associate 10 (11,828)

Other expenses 6(b) (482,217)

LOSS BEFORE TAX (1,123,128)

INCOME TAX BENEFIT 8 -

LOSS FOR THE PERIOD ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF 
ISHINE INTERNATIONAL RESOURCES LIMITED 16 (1,123,128)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE PERIOD ATTRIBUTABLE TO 
EQUITY HOLDERS OF ISHINE INTERNATIONAL RESOURCES LIMITED 16 (1,123,128)

Basic and diluted loss per share (cents per share) 17 (1.30)

(i)  The Company was incorporated in the current period, and therefore, no prior comparatives have been provided for the information included  
 on pages 29 to 51.

Notes to the Financial Statements are included on pages 33 to 51
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PERIOD ENDED 30 JUNE 2010 Notes Company

30 June 2010 (i)

$

CURRENT ASSETS   

Cash and cash equivalents 7 4,112,135

Trade and other receivables 9 79,122

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 4,191,257

NON CURRENT ASSETS 

Investment in associate 10 728,430

Other financial assets 11 159,737

Property, plant and equipment 12 133,590

Deferred exploration and evaluation expenditures 13 1,226,106

TOTAL NON CURRENT ASSETS 2,247,863

TOTAL ASSETS 6,439,120

CURRENT LIABILITIES 

Trade and other payables 14 96,143

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 96,143

TOTAL LIABILITIES 96,143

NET ASSETS 6,342,977

EQUITY 

Contributed equity 15 6,669,952

Share based payments reserve 16(a) 796,153

Accumulated losses 16(b) (1,123,128)

TOTAL EQUITY 6,342,977

Notes to the Financial Statements are included on pages 33 to 51
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2010STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Notes to the Financial Statements are included on pages 33 to 51

PERIOD ENDED 30 JUNE 2010  Issued Capital  Accumulated 
Losses 

 Share Based 
Payments Reserve 

 Total 

$ $ $ $

Opening Balance    - - - -

Loss for the period - (1,123,128) - (1,123,128)

Other comprehensive income - - - -

Total comprehensive income for the period - (1,123,128) - (1,123,128)

 Securities issued during the period  6,900,000 - -         6,900,000

 Share issue costs   (230,048) - - (230,048)

 Share based payments - - 796,153 796,153

 AT 30 JUNE 2010 6,669,952 (1,123,128) 796,153       6,342,977 
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2010 STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Notes to the Financial Statements are included on pages 33 to 51

PERIOD ENDED 30 JUNE 2010 Notes Company

30 June 2010 (i)

$

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Payments to suppliers and employees (522,544)

Interest received 2,899

Payments for exploration activities (406,450)

NET CASH OUTFLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 7(i) (926,095)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (149,256)

Payment for purchases of investments (1,037,500)

Payments for tenement acquisition (50,000)

NET CASH OUTFLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES (1,236,756)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from issues of ordinary shares 6,480,000

Payment of share issue costs (205,014)

NET CASH INFLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 6,274,986

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the 
period -

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF 
THE PERIOD 7 4,112,135
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2010NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. GENERAL INFORMATION
Ishine International Resources Limited (‘Ishine’) is incorporated and operates in Australia. Ishine is a listed public company on the Australian 
Securities Exchange. The address of its registered office and principle place of business are disclosed on the inside cover of the financial 
report. This financial report for Ishine is for the period from incorporation on 18 September 2009 to the period ended 30 June 2010. 

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Statement of compliance

The financial report was authorised for issue on 30 September 2010.

The financial report complies with Australian Accounting Standards, which include Australian equivalents to International Financing Reporting 
Standards (AIFRS). Compliance with AIFRS ensures that the financial report, comprising the financial statements and notes thereto, complies 
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 

Basis of preparation

The financial report is a general purpose financial report, which has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Corporations 
Act 2001, Australian Accounting Standards and other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board. 

The financial report has been prepared on an accrual basis and is based on historical cost modified by the revaluation of selected non-current 
assets, financial assets and financial liabilities for which the fair value basis of accounting has been applied. 

Ishine International Resources Limited is a company limited by shares incorporated in Australia whose are shares are publicly traded on the 
Australian Securities Exchange. The nature of the operations and principal activities of the Company are described in the Directors’ Report. 

The following is a summary of the significant accounting policies adopted by the Company in the preparation of the financial report. The 
accounting policies have been consistently applied, unless otherwise stated. 

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the application of AIFRS management is required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about carrying values of assets and 
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.  The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and 
various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstance, the results of which form the basis of making the judgments.  
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period 
in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects 
both current and future periods. Refer to Note 3 for a discussion of critical judgements in applying the entity’s accounting policies and key 
sources of estimation uncertainty.

New Accounting Standards for Application in Future Periods

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for 30 June 2010 reporting periods.  The 
Company’s assessment of these new standards and interpretations is set out below:

New / revised 
pronouncement

Superseded 
pronouncement

Explanation of amendments Effective date 
(i.e. annual 
reporting 

periods ending 
on or after)

Impact of new 
standard on the 
financial report

Accounting Standards

AASB 9 Financial 
Instruments 

AASB 2009-11 
Amendments to 
Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from 
AASB 9

AASB 139 
Financial 
Instruments: 
Recognition and 
Measurement 
(part)

AASB 9 introduces new requirements 
for the classification and measurement 
of financial assets.  AASB 9 uses a 
single approach to determine whether a 
financial asset is measured at amortised 
cost or fair value, replacing the many 
different rules in AASB 139 and 
removes the impairment requirement 
for financial assets held at fair value.

31 December 2013 AASB 9 amends the 
classification and 
measurement of financial 
assets; the effect on the 
entity will be that more 
assets are held at fair 
value and the need for 
impairment testing has 
been limited to assets 
held at amortised cost 
only.
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New / revised 
pronouncement

Superseded 
pronouncement

Explanation of amendments Effective date 
(i.e. annual 
reporting 

periods ending 
on or after)

Impact of new 
standard on the 
financial report

AASB 124 Related Party 
Disclosures

AASB 2009-12 
Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards 
arising from AASB 124.

AASB 124 
Related Party 
Disclosures

This revision amends the disclosure 
requirements for government related 
entities and the definition of a related 
party.

31 December 2011 Since the entity is not 
a government related 
entity; there is not 
expected to be any 
changes arising from this 
standard.

AASB 2009-5 Further 
Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards 
arising from the Annual 
Improvements Project 
[AASB 5, 8, 101, 107, 117, 
118, 136 & 139]

N/a Makes various amendments to a number 
of standards and interpretations in line 
with the IASB annual improvements 
project.

31 December 2010 Unlikely to have 
significant impact on the 
financial report.

AASB 2009-9 
Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards – 
Additional Exemptions for 
First-time Adopters

AASB 1 First 
Time adoption 
of Australian 
Equivalents to 
International 
Financial 
Reporting 
Standards (June 
2007)

AASB 2009-9 makes amendments to 
ensure that entities applying Australian 
Accounting Standards for the first time 
will not face undue cost or effort in the 
transition process in particular situations.

31 December 2010 As this is not the first 
year of adoption of IFRSs, 
these amendments will 
not have any impact on 
the entity’s financial 
report

AASB 2009-10 
Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards – 
Classification of Rights 
Issues

AASB 132 
Financial 
Instruments: 
Presentation

AASB 2009-10 makes amendments which 
clarify that rights, options or warrants to 
acquire a fixed number of an entity’s own 
equity instruments for a fixed amount 
in any currency are equity instruments 
if the entity offers the rights, options or 
warrants pro rata to all existing owners 
of the same class of its non-derivative 
equity instruments.

31 January 2011 As the entity does not 
have any rights, options 
or warrants denominated 
in a foreign currency 
to acquire their own 
equity instruments, these 
amendments will not have 
any impact on the entity’s 
financial report.

AASB 2009-13
Amendments to AASB 1 
arising from Interpretation 
19

Interpretation 19 This standard amends AASB 1 to allow a 
first-time adopter to use the transitional 
provisions in Interpretation 19.

30 June 2011 As the entity is not a first-
time adopter of IFRS, this 
standard will not have any 
impact.

AASB 2010-01
Limited exemption from 
comparative AASB 7 
disclosures for first time 
adopters (Amendments to 
AASB 1 and AASB 7)

AASB 1: First-
time adoption 
of Australian 
Accounting 
Standards

AASB 7 Financial 
instruments: 
Disclosures

These amendments principally give effect 
to extending the transition provisions of 
AASB 2009-2 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards – Improving 
Disclosures about Financial Instruments 
to first-time adopters of Australian 
Accounting Standards.

30 June 2011 As the entity is not a first-
time adopter of IFRS, this 
standard will not have any 
impact.

AASB 2010-3 and AASB 
2010-4

Various Makes various amendments to a number 
of standards and interpretations.

Application dates 
either 30 June 2011 
or 31 December 
2011

Unlikely to have 
significant impact on the 
financial report.

Australian Accounting Interpretations

Interpretation 19 
Extinguishing Financial 
Liabilities with Equity 
Instruments

N/A This interpretation addresses the 
accounting by an entity when the terms 
of a financial liability are renegotiated 
and result in the entity issuing equity 
instruments to a creditor to extinguish 
all or part of the financial liability.  These 
transactions are sometimes referred to 
as ‘debt for equity swaps’.

30 June 2011 As the entity has not 
renegotiated any 
financial liabilities into 
equity instruments this 
interpretation is not 
expected to have any 
impact on the entity’s 
financial report.

AASB 2009-14 
Prepayments of a 
Minimum Funding 
Requirement 
(Amendments to 
Interpretation 14)

N/A This amendment to Interpretation 14 
addresses the unintended consequences 
that can arise from the previous 
requirements when an entity prepays 
future contributions into a defined benefit 
pension plan.

31 December 2011 As the entity does 
not have a defined 
benefit pension plan 
this amendment to 
Interpretation 14 is not 
expected to have any 
impact on the entity’s 
financial report.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont.)
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The following significant accounting policies have been adopted in the preparation and presentation of the financial report:

(a) Business combinations 

Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration for each acquisition is measured 
at the aggregate of the fair values (at the date of exchange) of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued by 
the Company in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Where applicable, the consideration for the acquisition includes any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement, 
measured at its acquisition-date fair value. Subsequent changes in such fair values are adjusted against the cost of acquisition where they 
qualify as measurement period adjustments (see below). All other subsequent changes in the fair value of contingent consideration classified 
as an asset or liability are accounted for in accordance with relevant Standards. Changes in the fair value of contingent consideration classified 
as equity are not recognised.

Where a business combination is achieved in stages, the Company’s previously held interests in the acquired entity are remeasured to fair 
value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date the Company attains control) and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss. 
Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have previously been recognised in other comprehensive 
income are reclassified to profit or loss, where such treatment would be appropriate if that interest were disposed of.

The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition under AASB 3(2008) are 
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date, except that:

 deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or assets related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised and measured 
in accordance with AASB 112 Income Taxes and AASB 119 Employee Benefits respectively;

 liabilities or equity instruments related to the replacement by the Company of an acquiree’s sharebased payment awards are 
measured in accordance with AASB 2 Share-based Payment; and

 assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with AASB 5 Noncurrent Assets Held for Sale and 
Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that Standard.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs, the 
Company reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted during 
the measurement period (see below), or additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts and 
circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the amounts recognised as of that date.

The measurement period is the period from the date of acquisition to the date the Company obtains complete information about facts and 
circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date – and is subject to a maximum of one year. 

(b) Segment reporting

An operating segment is a component of an entity that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur expenses 
(including revenues and expenses relating to transactions with other components of the same entity), whose operating results are regularly 
reviewed by the entity’s chief operating decision maker to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its 
performance and for which discrete financial information is available. This includes start up operations which are yet to earn revenues. 
Management will also consider other factors in determining operating segments such as the existence of a line manager and the level of 
segment information presented to the board of directors.

Operating segments have been identified based on the information provided to the chief operating decision makers – being the executive 
management team.

The group aggregates two or more operating segments when they have similar economic characteristics, and the segments are similar in each 
of the following respects:

 Nature of the products and services,

 Nature of the production processes,

 Type or class of customer for the products and services,

 Methods used to distribute the products or provide the services, and if applicable

 Nature of the regulatory environment.

Operating segments that meet the quantitative criteria as prescribed by AASB 8 are reported separately. However, an operating segment 
that does not meet the quantitative criteria is still reported separately where information about the segment would be useful to users of the 
financial statements.

Information about other business activities and operating segments that are below the quantitative criteria are combined and disclosed in a 
separate category for “all other segments”. 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont.)
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(c) Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Company and the revenue can be reliably 
measured. Interest revenue is recognised as it accrues, taking into account the effective yield on the financial asset. 

(d) Income tax

The charge of current income tax expense is based on the profit for the year adjusted for any non-assessable or disallowed items. It is 
calculated using the tax rates that have been enacted or are substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method in respect of temporary differences arising between the tax bases 
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. No deferred income tax will be recognised from the initial 
recognition of an asset or liability, excluding a business combination, where there is no effect on accounting or taxable profit or loss.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or liability is settled. Deferred 
tax is charged or credited in the profit or loss component of statement of comprehensive income except where it relates to items that may be 
credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is adjusted directly against equity.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future tax profits will be available against which deductible 
temporary differences and unused tax losses or tax credits can be utilised. 

The amount of benefits brought to account or which may be realised in the future is based on the assumption that no adverse change will 
occur in income tax legislation and the anticipation that the Company will derive sufficient future assessable income to enable the benefit to be 
realised and comply with the conditions of deductibility imposed by law. 

(e) Impairment of non-financial assets

The Company assess at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such indication exists, or when 
annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Company makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable 
amount is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does 
not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets and the asset’s value in use cannot be 
estimated to be close to its fair value less costs to sell. In such cases the asset is tested for impairment as part of the cash generating unit to 
which it belongs. When the carrying amount of an asset or cash- generating unit exceeds it recoverable amount, the asset or cash-generating 
unit is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. 

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and risks specific to the asset. Impairment losses relating to continuing operations are 
recognised in those expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset unless the asset is carried at revalued amount (in 
which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease).

An assessment is also made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognised impairment losses may 
no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment 
loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment 
loss was recognised. If that is the case the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. That increased amount cannot 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in 
prior years. Such reversal is recognised in profit or loss unless the asset is carried at revalued amount, in which case the reversal is treated 
as a revaluation increase. After such a reversal the depreciation charge is adjusted in future periods to allocate the asset’s revised carrying 
amount, less any residual value, on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life.

(f) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash comprises cash at bank and in hand. Cash equivalents are short term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known 
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 

For the purposes of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as described above, net of 
outstanding bank overdrafts.

(g) Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables, which generally have 30-90 day terms, are recognised and carried at original invoice amount less an allowance for any 
uncollectible amounts. An allowance for doubtful debts is recognised when there is objective evidence that the Company will not be able to 
collect the debts. Bad debts are written off when identified.

(h) Financial instruments 

Initial recognition and measurement 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions to the instrument. 
For financial assets, this is equivalent to the date that the company commits itself to either the purchase or sale of the asset (ie trade date 
accounting is adopted).

Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs, except where the instrument is classified “at fair value through 
profit or loss”, in which case transaction costs are expensed to profit or loss immediately.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont.)
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Classification and subsequent measurement 

Financial instruments are subsequently measured at either of fair value, amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, or cost. Fair 
value represents the amount for which an asset could be exchanged or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties. Where 
available, quoted prices in an active market are used to determine fair value. In other circumstances, valuation techniques are adopted. 

Amortised cost is calculated as:

a. the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is measured at initial recognition;

b. less principal repayments;

c. plus or minus the cumulative amortisation of the difference, if any, between the amount initially recognised and the maturity 
amount calculated using the effective interest method; and

d. less any reduction for impairment.

The effective interest method is used to allocate interest income or interest expense over the relevant period and is equivalent to the rate that 
exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts (including fees, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through 
the expected life (or when this cannot be reliably predicted, the contractual term) of the financial instrument to the net carrying amount of 
the financial asset or financial liability. Revisions to expected future net cash flows will necessitate an adjustment to the carrying value with a 
consequential recognition of an income or expense in profit or loss. 

The Company does not designate any interests in subsidiaries, associates or joint venture entities as being subject to the requirements of 
accounting standards specifically applicable to financial instruments. 

(i) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  

Financial assets are classified at ‘fair value through profit or loss’ when they are either held for trading for the purpose of short-term profit 
taking, derivatives not held for hedging purposes, or when they are designated as such to avoid an accounting mismatch or to enable 
performance evaluation where a group of financial assets is managed by key management personnel on fair value basis in accordance with 
a documented risk management or investment strategy. Such assets are subsequently measured at fair value with changes in carrying value 
being included in profit or loss. 

(ii) Loans and receivables

Loan and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market and are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost. 

(iii) Available-for-sale financial assets 

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are either not suitable to be classified into other categories of 
financial assets due to their nature, or they are designated as such by management. They comprise investments in the equity of other entities 
where there is neither a fixed maturity nor fixed or determinable payments. They are subsequently measured at fair value, with changes in fair 
value recognised in other comprehensive income. Where the investment is disposed of, or determined to be impaired, the cumulative gain or 
loss previously accumulated in equity is reclassified to profit or loss. 

(iv) Financial liabilities 

Non-derivative financial liabilities (excluding financial guarantees) are subsequently measured at amortised cost. 

Fair Value 

Fair value is determined based on current bid prices for all quoted investments. Valuation techniques are applied to determine the fair value for 
all unlisted securities, including recent arm’s length transactions, reference to similar instruments and option pricing models. 

Impairment 

At each reporting date, the Company assess whether there is objective evidence that a financial instrument has been impaired. In the case of 
available-for-sale financial instruments, significant or prolonged decline in the value of the instrument is considered to determine whether an 
impairment has arisen. Impairment losses are recognised in the profit or loss.  

(i) Fair value estimation

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities must be estimated for recognition and measurement or for disclosure purposes.

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as publicly traded derivatives, and trading and available-for-sale 
securities) is based on quoted market prices at the end of the reporting period. The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the 
Company is the last trade price.

The carrying value less impairment provision of trade receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their fair values due to their 
short-term nature.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont.)
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(j) Property, plant and equipment

Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at cost or fair value less, where applicable, any accumulated depreciation and impairment 
loss. 

Plant and equipment 

The cost of fixed assets constructed within the Company includes the cost of materials, direct labour, borrowing costs and an appropriate 
proportion of fixed and variable overheads. 

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that 
future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs 
and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the financial period in which they are incurred. 

Increases in the carrying amount arising on revaluation of land and buildings are credited to a revaluation reserve in the equity. Decreases 
that offset previous increases of the same asset are charged against revaluation reserves directly in equity; all other decreases are charged 
to profit or loss. Each year the difference between depreciation based on revalued carrying amount of the asset charged to profit or loss and 
depreciation based on the asset’s original cost is transferred from the revaluation reserve to retained earnings.  

Class of Fixed Asset Depreciation Rate

Plant and equipment 10 –  67%

The asset’s residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date. 

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated 
recoverable amount. 

Gains and losses on disposal are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. These gains and losses are included in profit 
or loss. When revalued assets are sold, amounts included in the revaluation reserve relating to that asset are transferred to retained earnings.

(k) Exploration and evaluation expenditure

Exploration and evaluation assets arising out of acquisitions are capitalised as part of the deferred exploration and evaluation asset. Subsequent 
to acquisition, exploration expenditure is expensed as incurred in accordance with the company accounting policy.

The capitalised costs in relation to an abandoned area are written off in full against profit in the year in which the decision to abandon the area 
is made. 

When production commences, the capitalised costs for the relevant area of interest are amortised over the life of the area according to the rate 
of depletion of the economically recoverable reserves. 

A regular review is undertaken of each area of interest to determine the appropriateness of continuing to carry forward costs in relation to 
that area of interest. 

Costs of site restoration are provided over the life of the facility from when exploration commences and are included in the costs of that stage. 
Site restoration costs include the dismantling and removal of mining plant, equipment and building structures, waste removal, and rehabilitation 
of the site in accordance with clauses of the mining permits. Such costs have been determined using estimates of future costs, current legal 
requirements and technology on a discounted basis. 

Any changes in the estimates for the costs are accounted for on prospective basis. In determining the costs of site restoration, there is 
uncertainty regarding the nature and extent of the restoration due to community expectations and future legislation. Accordingly the costs have 
been determined on the basis that the restoration will be completed within one year of abandoning the site. 

(l) Trade and other payables

Trade payables and other payables are carried at amortised cost and represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Company 
prior to the end of the financial year that are unpaid and arise when the Company becomes obliged to make future payments in respect of the 
purchase of these goods and services. 

(m) Employee benefits

Provision is made for the Company’s liability for employee benefits arising from services rendered by employees to balance date. Employee 
benefits that are expected to be settled within one year have been measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liability is settled, 
plus related on-costs. Employee benefits payable later than one year have been measured at the present value of the estimated future cash 
outflows to be made for those benefits. 

(n) Issued capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a 
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont.)
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(o) Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated as net profit attributable to members of the parent, adjusted to exclude any costs of servicing equity 
(other than dividends) and preference share dividends, divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares, adjusted for any bonus 
element. 

Diluted earnings per share is calculated as net profit attributable to members of the parent, adjusted for:

 costs of servicing equity (other than dividends) and preference share dividends;

 the after tax effect of dividends and interest associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares that have been recognised as 
expenses; and

other non-discretionary changes in revenues or expenses during the period that would result from the dilution of potential ordinary shares; 
divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares and dilutive potential ordinary shares, adjusted for any bonus element.

(p) Other taxes 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST except:

 when the GST incurred on a purchase of goods and services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in which case the 
GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item as applicable; and

 receivables and payables, which are stated with the amount of GST included. 

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables in the Statement 
of Financial Position. 

Cash flows are included in the Statement of Cash Flows on a gross basis and the GST component of cash flows arising from investing and 
financing activities, which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority are classified as operating cash flows. 

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority.

(q) Share based payments

Equity-settled share-based payments are measured at fair value at the date of grant. Fair value is measured by use of the Black & Scholes 
option pricing model.  The expected life used in the model has been adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of non-
transferability, exercise restrictions, and behavioural considerations.

The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting 
period, based on the Company’s estimate of the number of equity instruments that will eventually vest.

For cash-settled share based payments, a liability equal to the portion of the goods or services received is recognised at the current fair value 
determined at each reporting date.

(r) Interests in Joint Ventures 

The Company’s share of the assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses of joint venture operations are included in the appropriate items of the 
financial statements. The Company’s interests in joint venture entities are brought to account using the equity method of accounting in the 
financial statements. 

(s) Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that an 
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount 
of the obligation. 

When the Company expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is 
recognised as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to any provision is presented in the 
income statement net of any reimbursement.

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects the risks specific to the 
liability. 

When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as finance cost.

(t) Investments in Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Company has significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an interest in a joint venture. 
Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control 
over those policies. 

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these financial statements using the equity method of accounting, except 
when the investment is classified as held for sale, in which case it is accounted for in accordance with AASB 5 Non-current Assets Held for 
Sale and Discontinued Operations. Under the equity method, investments in associates are carried in the statement of financial position at 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont.)
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cost as adjusted for post-acquisition changes in the Company’s share of the net assets of the associate, less any impairment in the value of 
individual investments. Losses of an associate in excess of the Company’s interest in that associate (which includes any long-term interests 
that, in substance, form part of the Company’s net investment in the associate) are recognised only to the extent that the Company has incurred 
legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Company’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities of the associate recognised at the date of acquisition is recognised as goodwill. The goodwill is included within the carrying amount 
of the investment and is assessed for impairment as part of that investment. Any excess of the Company’s share of the net fair value of the 
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of acquisition, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or 
loss In the determination of the Company’s share of profit or loss of the associate.

When a Company entity transacts with an associate of the Company, profits and losses are eliminated to the extent of the Company’s interest 
in the relevant associate.

3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
The application of accounting policies requires the use of judgements, estimates and assumptions about carrying values of assets and liabilities 
that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other 
factors that are considered relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

Key Judgments – Exploration and Evaluation Expenditure

The Company’s accounting policy for exploration and evaluation expenditure results in certain items of expenditure being capitalised for 
an area of interest where it is considered likely to be recoverable by future exploitation or sale or where the activities have not reached a 
stage which permits a reasonable assessment of the existence of reserves. This policy requires management to make certain estimates and 
assumptions as to future events and circumstances, in particular whether an economically viable extraction operation can be established. Any 
such estimates and assumptions may change as new information becomes available. If, after having capitalised the expenditure under the 
policy, a judgement is made that recovery of the expenditure is unlikely, the relevant capitalised amount will be written off to the profit or loss.

Key Judgements – Significant influence over Athena 

In the Company’s judgement, the Company has significant influence over Athena (see Note 10).

Key Estimate – Fair value of options in Athena 

The Company has estimated the fair value of the options in Athena (see Note 11). 

Key Estimates – Impairment 

The Company assesses impairment at each reporting date by evaluating conditions specific to the Company that may lead to impairment of 
assets. Where an impairment trigger exists, the recoverable amounts incorporate a number of key estimates. 

4. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Description of segments
The Company operates in one segment, being mineral exploration. This is the basis on which internal reports are provided to the directors for 
assessing performance and determining the allocation of resources within the Company. All of the Company’s mineral exploration activity is 
based in Australia. 

Company
2010

$5. REVENUE
Directorship income (Athena) 11,458

Exploration management services income 7,200

18,658

6. OTHER INCOME AND EXPENSES
(a)    Other income:

        Interest income 2,899

(b)   Loss before income tax includes the following specific expenses:

       Stock exchange and registry fees (7,756)

       Insurance expenses (4,747)

       Administrative expenses (469,714)

(482,217)
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Company 
2010

$7. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash at bank and on hand 4,112,135

(i) Reconciliation of loss for the year to net  cash flows used in operating activities:

Loss for the year (1,123,128)

Non cash expenses:

Depreciation 15,666

Share of associate loss 11,828

Loss arising on financial assets 137,505

Other non cash expenses 15,013

Changes in assets and liabilities:

(Increase)/Decrease in:

Receivables (79,122)

(Decrease)/Increase in:

Payables 96,143

Net cash flows (used in) operating activities (926,095)
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Company 
2010

$8.   INCOME TAX
(a) Income tax expense/(benefit)

The income tax(benefit) for the year differs from the prima facie tax as 
follows: 

Loss for year (1,123,128)

Prima facie income tax (benefit) @ 30% (336,938)

Non deductible expenses 53,317

Deferred tax assets not brought to account  283,621

Total income tax expense / (benefit) -

(b) Deferred Tax Assets 

Deferred tax assets not brought to account the benefits of which will 
only be realised if the conditions for deductibility set out in Note 2(d) 
occur: 

- Tax Losses 286,840

- Temporary differences (3,219)

Net unrecognised deferred tax asset 283,621

9.   TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Trade receivables 20,524

Deposits paid 10,169

Prepaid expenses 9,605

Staff advances 1,753

GST recoverable 37,071

79,122

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont.)
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10. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATE
Details of the Company’s associate are as follows: 

Proportion of ownership
Interest and voting power held

Name of associate Principal activity Place of incorporation 
and operation

2010
%

Athena Resources Ltd Mineral Exploration Australia 12.7

Athena Resources Limited   $
Total Assets 3,392,658

Total Liabilities (308,896)

Net Assets 3,083,762

Company’s share of Net Assets of Athena (12.7%) 391,638

Total Revenue 35,591

Total Profit for the period (412,354)

Company’s share of profits of associates (12.7% since 15 April 2010) (11,828)

Fair value of acquisition of investment in Athena 740,258

Share of loss of associate (11,828)

Carrying Value of investment in Athena as at 30 June 2010 728,430

11. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
 Company

2010
 $

Financial assets carried at fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL)

Athena Tranche 1 Options (i)      141,930

Athena Tranche 2 Package (ii)       17,807

     159,737

(i)   Tranche 1: 4,150,000 Options exercisable at 8 cents expiring on 30 April 2012 at 1 cent per option.
(ii)  Subject to exercising its Option (Tranche 2) at anytime before 5.00pm (WST) on 31 October 2010, the Company can further increase their 
      stake in Athena by 5,935,823 Fully Paid Ordinary Shares at 20 cents per share with 2,967,912 Options exercisable at 8 cents expiring on 
      30 April 2012 at 1 cent per option.
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12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Company 

2010 
$

Plant and equipment – at cost 149,256

Accumulated depreciation (15,666)

Total written down amount 133,590

 

Reconciliation 

Opening written down value -

Additions 149,256

Depreciation charge for the year (15,666)

Closing written down value 133,590

13. DEFERRED EXPLORATION EXPENDITURE 

Exploration and evaluation costs in respect of mining areas of interest

Tenements acquired (i) 1,226,106

Closing net book amount 1,226,106

(i)   The payment of consideration to acquire a 70% interest via Farm-in Arrangements in the Boomarra and Mt Watson tenements being $50,000 cash, 2,000,000  
      shares issued at a deemed price of $0.20 per share and 5,000,000 options exercisable at $0.20 each on or before 31 December 2015. No payment is required 
      to acquire a 70% interest in Falcon Ridge.

14. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade and other payables 82,643

Accruals 13,500

96,143

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont.)
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15. ISSUED CAPITAL Company

2010
 $(a) Share capital

86,700,000 ordinary shares fully paid      6,669,952

(b) Movement in ordinary shares on issue 

Number $
Issue of 59,600,000 ordinary shares at $0.05 ea 59,600,000 2,980,000

Issue of 10,000,000 ordinary shares at $0.05 ea 10,000,000 500,000

Issue of 15,000,000 ordinary shares at $0.20 ea 15,000,000 3,000,000

Issued to Vendors as per agreement:

1,000,000 ordinary shares at $0.20 ea 1,000,000 200,000

1,000,000 ordinary shares at $0.20 ea 1,000,000 200,000

100,000 ordinary shares deemed at $0.20 ea 100,000 20,000

Transaction costs on share issue - (230,048)

At  30 June 2010 86,700,000 6,669,952

(c) Share Options 

For information relating to share options issued during the financial year, refer to Note 23 Share Based Payment Plans.

(d) Terms and conditions of contributed equity 

Ordinary shares have the right to receive dividends as declared and, in the event of winding up the company, to participate in proceeds 
from the sale of all surplus assets in proportion to the number of and amounts paid up on shares held. 
Ordinary shares entitle their holder to one vote, either in person or by proxy, at a meeting of the company.  

16.     RESERVES AND ACCUMULATED LOSSES
(a) Reserves      

Share-based payments reserve   

Balance at the beginning of the period -

Share based payment 796,153

Balance at the end of the period 796,153

(b) Accumulated losses
Balance at the beginning of the period -

Net loss for the period (1,123,128)

Balance at the end of the period (1,123,128)

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves

Share-based payments reserve

The share-based payments reserve is used to recognise the fair value of options issued as share based payments.
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17. LOSS PER SHARE
 

(a) Reconciliation of earnings used in calculating loss 
per share

Company
2010
 $

Loss attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the company used in 
calculating basic and diluted loss per share

(1,123,128)

(b) Weighted average number of shares used as the 
denominator

Number of shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used as the denominator in 
calculating basic and diluted loss per share

86,269,378

(c) Information on the classification of options

As the Company has made a loss for the period ended 30 June 2010, all options on issue are considered antidilutive and have not been 
included in the calculation of diluted loss per share. These options could potentially dilute basic loss per share in the future.

18. DIVIDENDS
No dividends were paid during the financial year.  No recommendation for payment of dividends has been made.

 
19. COMMITMENTS
(a) Exploration commitments

The Company has certain obligations to perform minimum exploration work and to spend minimum amounts on exploration tenements. The 
obligations may be varied from time to time subject to approval and are expected to be fulfilled in the normal course of the operations of the 
Company. Due to the nature of the Company’s operations in exploring and evaluating areas of interest, it is difficult to accurately forecast the 
nature and amount of future expenditure beyond the next year. Expenditure may be reduced by seeking exemption from individual commit-
ments, by relinquishing of tenure or any new joint venture agreements. Expenditure may be increased when new tenements are granted of 
joint venture agreements amended.

Company
2010
 $

0 to 1 year 765,233

1 to 3 years 1,825,000

3 to 5 years 2,050,000

Greater than 5 years -

4,640,233

(b) Lease agreement
The Company entered in to a 3 year lease agreement in relation to offices premises on 15 March 2010. The commitments in relation to this, 
inclusive of floor space, parking bays and variable outgoings are as follows:

0 to 1 year 110,713

1 to 3 years 189,135

299,848

(c) Company secretarial services
The Company entered into an agreement with GDA Corporate for the provision of corporate advisory on 17 December 2009. According to the 
engagement letter, a 90-day notice will have to be provided if either party terminates the service agreement. The commitments in relation to 
the 90-day notice is as follows: 

                              Company secretarial fees for 90 days 8,867

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont.)
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20. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Financial risk management objectives
The Company’s principal financial instruments comprise receivables, payables, cash and short-term deposits. The Company manages its ex-
posure to key financial risk in accordance with the Company’s financial risk management policy. The objective of the policy is to support the 
delivery of the Company’s financial targets while protecting future financial security. 

The main risks arising from the Company’s financial instruments are interest risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Company does not speculate 
in the trading of derivative instruments. The Company uses different methods to measure and manage different types of risks to which it is 
exposed. These include monitoring levels of exposure to interest rates and assessments of market forecasts for interest rates. Ageing analysis 
of and monitoring of receivables are undertaken to manage credit risk, liquidity risk is monitored through the development of future rolling 
cash flow forecasts. 

The Board reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks as summarised below. 

Primary responsibility for identification and control of financial risks rests with the Board. The Board reviews and agrees policies for managing 
each of the risks identified below, including for interest rate risk, credit allowances and cash flow forecast projections. 

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of measurement and the 
basis on which income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset and financial liability are disclosed in note 2 to 
the financials statements.  

(b) Categories of financial instruments

The Company holds the following financial instruments:

 Company
2010
 $

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 4,112,135

Trade and other receivables 79,122

 Financial assets at FVTPL 159,737

4,350,994

Financial liabilities
At amortised cost:

Trade and other payables 96,143

96,143

(c)      Interest rate risk management
The Company’s exposure to risks of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Company cash balances. The Company constantly 
analyses its interest rate exposure. Within this analysis consideration is given to potential renewals of existing positions, alternatives financing 
positions and the mix of fixed and variable interest rates. As the Company has no interest bearing borrowing its exposure to interest rate 
movements is limited to the amount of interest income it can potentially earn on surplus cash deposits. 
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The following sensitivity analysis is based on the interest rate risk exposure in existence at the balance sheet date.
If interest rates had moved, as illustrated in the table below, with all other variables held constant, post tax profit and equity relating to financial 
assets of the Company would have been affected as follows:

 Company
2010
 $

Judgements of reasonably possible:

Post tax profit – higher / (lower)

+0.5% 441

-0.5% (441)

Equity – higher / (lower)

+0.5% 441

-0.5% (441)

(d)   Capital risk management

The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide 
future returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. 
The management of the Company’s capital is performed by the Board.

The Board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain future 
development of the business. 

(e) Liquidity risk management

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and term deposits, the availability of funding through an adequate 
amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to close out market positions.  The Company manages liquidity risk by continuously 
monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. At 30 June 2010, the Company 
has no significant exposure to liquidity risk as there is effectively no debt. 

Maturities of financial assets and liabilities

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated interest payments and excluding the impact of netting 
agreements.

The tables below have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows (including both interest and principal cash flows expected) using 
contractual maturities of financial assets and the earliest date on which the Company can be required to pay financial liabilities.  Amounts for 
financial assets include interest earned on those assets except where it is anticipated the cash flow will occur in a different period.

≤6 months
$

6 – 12 months
$

1-5 Years
$

> 5 Years
$

Financial assets

Variable interest rate instruments 4,071,936 - - 4,071,936

Interest bearing - - 40,199 40,199

Non interest bearing 238,859 - - 238,859

Total Financial Assets 4,310,795 - 40,199 4,350,994

Financial liabilities

Non interest bearing 96,143 - - 96,143

Total Financial Liabilities 96,143 - - 96,143

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont.)
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(f) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to the Company. The 
Company’s potential concentration of credit risk consists mainly of cash deposits with banks. The Company’s short term cash surpluses are 
placed with banks that have investment grade ratings. The maximum credit risk exposure relating to the financial assets is represented by 
the carrying value as at the balance sheet date. The Company and the Company considers the credit standing of counterparties when making 
deposits to manage the credit risk.

Considering the nature of the business at current, the Company believes that the credit risk is not material to the Company’s operations.

(g) Fair value

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities must be estimated for recognition and measurement or for disclosure purposes.

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of measurement and the 
basis on which revenues and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset, financial liability and equity instrument are 
disclosed in note 2 to the financial statements.

The carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the financial statements represents their respective fair values. The 
Company’s other financial assets (carried at FVTPL) are measured by ‘Level 2’ fair value measurements – meaning that they are derived from 
inputs other than quoted prices that is observable for the asset. 

11. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES

(a)  Details of key management personnel 

  (i) Directors

  The following persons were directors of Ishine International Resources Limited during the financial year:

Yunde Li Executive Chairman (Appointed 18 September 2009)

Caigen Wang Managing Director (Appointed 18 December 2009)                                                        

Non-executive Director (Appointed 30 October 2009 – 18 December 2009)

Hongwei Cao Non-executive Director (Appointed 18 September 2009)

Naiming (James) Li Non-executive Director (Appointed 18 September 2009) 

Mark Muzzin Non-executive Director (Appointed 1 February 2010)

Ling Lu Non-executive Director (Appointed 18 September 2009)

(ii) Other Key Management Personnel

The following persons also had authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Company, directly or 
indirectly, during the financial year:

Leonard Math Company Secretary (Appointed 18 September 2009) 

(b) Key management personnel compensation

 Company
2010
 $

Short-term benefits 278,390

Post employment benefits 10,500

Other Long-Term benefits -

Termination benefits -

Share-based payments -

288,890

(c) Equity interests in related parties

Equity interests in associates

Details of the percentage ownership of associates are disclosed in Note 10 to the financial statements.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont.)
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(d) Transactions with key management personnel

Key management personnel compensation
Details of key management personnel compensation are provided in the Remuneration Report of the Directors’ Report.

Loans to key management personnel
There were no loans to key management personnel during the period.

22. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(a) Key management personnel equity holdings

(i) Fully paid ordinary shares of Ishine International Resources Limited

Balance at start of 
period

Granted as  
compensation

Received on  
exercise of options

Net other change Balance at end of 
period 

No No No No No

2010

Directors

Yunde Li (i) - - - 10,000,000 10,000,000

Caigen Wang (ii) - - - - -

Hongwei Cao (i) - - - - -

Naiming Li (i) - - - - -

Mark Muzzin (iii) - - - - -

Ling Lu (i) - - - - -

Executives

Leonard Math (i) (iv) - - - 100,000 100,000

(i) Appointed 18 September 2009
(ii) Appointed 30 October 2009
(iii) Appointed 1 February 2010
(iv) Shares were issued to GDA Corporate of which Leonard Math is an employee. 

(ii) Options
No options were issued to directors and key management personnel during the financial year.

(b) Transactions with other related parties

Naiming (James) Li is the director and beneficiary of Pacway Investments Pty Ltd which received director’s fees of $37,600 for the period 
ended 30 June 2010 from Ishine.

Leonard Math is an employee of GDA Corporate which received company secretarial, accounting and other corporate consultancy services 
fees of $104,123 for the period ended 30 June 2010 from Ishine. 

Mark Muzzin is a partner of the partnership M & C Muzzin which received director’s fees of $20,000 for the period ended 30 June 2010 from 
Ishine. 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont.)



51Ishine International Resources Ltd.

2010

23. SHARE BASED PAYMENT PLANS
As provided for in the Prospectus, the Company entered into an agreement to grant 5,000,000 unlisted share options to Kabiri Resources Pty 
Ltd in exchange for the acquisition of 70% interest via Farm-in Arrangements in the Boomarra and Mt Watson tenements. The options issued 
on 3 December 2009 are exercisable at $0.20 each on or before 31 December 2015. The options will be vested 12 months from date of issue. 

On 29 March 2010, the Company issued ANDSHEP Pty Ltd 1,000,000 Unlisted Options for the provision of consultancy services. The options 
are exercisable at 20 cents each expiring 3 years from the date of issue. The options will not be vested until the Company’s shares trading on 
the ASX at 30 cents or above for 35 consecutive days. 

On the same day, 175,000 Unlisted Options were also issued to Real Grumpy Pty Ltd for the provision of consultancy services. The options are 
exercisable at 20 cents each expiring 3 years from the date of issue. The options will not be vested until the Company’s shares trading on the 
ASX at 30 cents or above for 35 consecutive days. 

The fair value of the options granted is estimated as at the date of grant using a BlackScholes calculation model, taking into account the terms 
and conditions upon which the options were granted. The estimated total fair value of the options granted is $889,740.

The following table lists the inputs to the model used:

No. Of options 5,000,000 1,175,000 

Share price $0.2000 $0.2300

Exercise price $0.2000 $0.2000

Risk Free Interest rate 5.34% 3.75%

Expiry date 31 December 2015 29 March 2013

Volatility 90% 50%

Value per option $0.1552 $0.0968

At the end of the year, the above 6,175,000 options over unissued ordinary shares were outstanding of which none were exercisable. 

The share options outstanding at the end of the year had a weighted average remaining contractual life of 2.8 years to 5.5 years and the 
exercise price of the share options outstanding at the end of the reporting period was $0.20.  

24. REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS  
During the year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided 
by the auditor of the Company, its related practices and non-related audit 
firms:

Company
June 2010

 $

Audit services

Audit or review of financial reports

    -   Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu 13,500

    -   PKF Chartered Accountants 968

Other services

    -  PKF Chartered Accountants 14,038

28,506

25. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
The Directors are not aware of any contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2010.

26. EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE
There are no other matters or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2010, which has significantly affected, or may significantly affect the 
operations of the Company, the result of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Company in subsequent financial years.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont.)
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In the directors’ opinion:

(a) the financial statements and notes set out on pages 29 to 51 are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:

(i) complying with Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory professional report-
ing requirements; and

(ii) giving a true and fair view of the company’s financial position as at 30 June 2010 and of its performance for the 
period ended on that date; and

(b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and 
payable; and

(c) the audited remuneration disclosures set out on page 22 of the directors’ report complying with Accounting Standards AASB 
124 Related Party Disclosures and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

(d) the Financial Statements and notes thereto are in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board as stated in Note 2 in the financial statements. 

The directors have been given the declarations by the chief executive officer and chief financial officer required by section 295A of the 
Corporations Act 2001.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the directors.

Dr Caigen Wang

Managing Director

Perth, 30 September 2010
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Additional information required by Australian Securities Exchange Ltd and not shown elsewhere in this report is as follows.  The information 
is current as at 22 September 2010. 

(a)  Distribution of equity securities

Analysis of numbers of equity security holders by size of holding:

Ordinary shares
Number of holders

     1           -        1,000 1

     1,001            -           5,000 6

     5,001            -           10,000 311

    10,001           -           100,000 122

    100,001                      and over 30

470

(b)  Twenty largest shareholders

The names of the twenty largest holders of quoted ordinary shares are: 

Listed ordinary shares

Number of shares Percentage of ordinary shares %

1 SHANDONG ISHINE MINING INDUSTRY                    59,600,000 68.74%

2 YUNDE LI                    10,000,000 11.53%

3 KABIRI RES PL                      2,000,000 2.31%

4 PASSIO PL                         952,500 1.10%

5 SUN BAOMING                         750,000 0.87%

6 SUN GUIYUN                         610,000 0.70%

7 LUO XIAO                         460,000 0.53%

8 CUI BAOLING                         380,000 0.44%

9 YIN CHUANSHUI 376,487 0.43%

10 WANG CHUNYAN                         300,000 0.35%

11 ZHENG JIAYI                         300,000 0.35%

12 ZHAO GUIJUN                         250,000 0.29%

13 HE NAIYAN                         200,000 0.23%

14 ZHANG HUANJIE                         200,000 0.23%

15 XIN HENGBO                         200,000 0.23%

16 ZHANG GUANGMING                         200,000 0.23%

17 WANG HUA                         200,000 0.23%

18 CAI YONGJUN                         200,000 0.23%

19 WANG FENG                         200,000 0.23%

20 XUE MINGHAO                         200,000 0.23%

77,578,987 89.48%

Voting rights

All ordinary shares (whether fully paid or not) carry one vote per share without restriction. 

(c)  Substantial shareholders

The names of substantial shareholders who have notified the Company in accordance with section 671B of the Corporations Act 2001 are:

Number of Shares

SHANDONG ISHINE MINING INDUSTRY CO LTD 59,600,000
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